Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 18, 2023 REVISED: October 21, 2023 ACCEPTED: November 17, 2023 PUBLISHED: November 27, 2023

# No logarithmic corrections to entropy in shift-symmetric Gauss-Bonnet gravity

# Marek Liška,<sup>a</sup> Robie A. Hennigar<sup>b</sup> and David Kubizňák<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institute of Theoretical Physics, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, Charles University, V Holešovičkách 2, 180 00 Prague 8, Czech Republic
<sup>b</sup> Departament de Física Quántica i Astrofísica, Institut de Ciéncies del Cosmos, Universitat de Barcelona, Martí i Franqués 1, E-08028 Barcelona, Spain
E-mail: liska.mk@seznam.cz, robie.hennigar@icc.ub.edu, David.Kubiznak@matfyz.cuni.cz

ABSTRACT: Employing the covariant phase space formalism, we discuss black hole thermodynamics in four-dimensional scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. We argue that logarithmic corrections to Wald entropy previously reported in this theory do not appear, due to the symmetry of the theory under constant shifts of the scalar field. Instead, we obtain the standard Bekenstein entropy of general relativity. Then, to satisfy the first law of black hole mechanics, the Hawking temperature must be modified. It has been proposed that such temperature modifications occur generically in scalar-tensor theories, due to different propagation speeds of gravitons and photons. We show that the temperature modifications also emerge in the Euclidean canonical ensemble approach to black hole thermodynamics. Notably, the boundary terms of the type we consider here can be considered in any scalar-tensor gravitational theories. Hence, we illustrate that adding a suitable boundary term to action may drastically affect black hole thermodynamics, changing both the entropy and the temperature.

**KEYWORDS:** Black Holes, Classical Theories of Gravity

ARXIV EPRINT: 2309.05629



# Contents

| 1            | Introduction   | 1  |
|--------------|--|----|
| <b>2</b>     | Covariant phase space formalism  | 3  |
| 3            | Scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in four dimensions             | 5  |
| 4            | Covariant phase space formalism for Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity          | 6  |
| <b>5</b>     | Conserved quantities in stationary black hole spacetimes                   | 9  |
|              | 5.1 Mass and angular momentum  | 9  |
|              | 5.2 Entropy prescription   | 10 |
| 6            | Spherical black holes  | 12 |
|              | 6.1 Black hole solutions   | 12 |
|              | 6.2 Thermodynamics and modified temperature                                | 13 |
|              | 6.3 Modified speed of gravitons argument                                   | 15 |
|              | 6.4 York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term                                     | 16 |
| 7            | Grandcanonical ensemble derivation of the modified temperature             | 18 |
|              | 7.1 Gauss-Bonnet boundary term in 4D general relativity                    | 18 |
|              | 7.2 Modified temperature in 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity | 19 |
| 8            | Discussion   | 21 |
| $\mathbf{A}$ | Variational principles in shift symmetric theories: a toy example          | 23 |
| в            | Alternative boundary term  | 24 |

# JHEP11 (2023) 195

# 1 Introduction

Formulations of Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in *four* spacetime dimensions have been studied in a number of recent papers. The original idea of rescaling the Gauss-Bonnet coupling constant as  $\alpha \to (n-4) \alpha$  [1] unfortunately does not lead to a theory derivable from a diffeomorphism invariant action. Furthermore, the theory has a number of pathologies [2–6]. Nevertheless, its physical consequences have been extensively explored, including its black holes solutions and their thermodynamics [7–9].

On the one hand, a consistent purely metric, local, diffeomorphism invariant generalisation of Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in 4 dimensions appears to be impossible. On the other hand, starting from the Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in n > 4 dimensions and compactifying n - 4 dimensions yields a consistent four-dimensional theory [10–13]. The result is special case of Horndeski gravity [14], i.e., a local, diffeomorphism invariant, scalartensor theory that generalises the Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity to four dimensions in a way free of basic pathologies.<sup>1</sup> In fact, this procedure leads to a well-defined scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet action in any spacetime dimension  $n \ge 2$ . Remarkably, the static, spherically symmetric black hole solutions in four dimensions coincide with the ones found in the coupling rescaling approach [7, 11, 12]. Thermodynamics of static, spherically symmetric black holes has been also reported to agree in both approaches [7]. Notably, Wald entropy found for scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity contains a term logarithmic in the horizon area. Since *logarithmic corrections* to black hole entropy appear as the leading order quantum gravitational correction on very general grounds [17–20], it would be rather interesting to recover them for a local *classical* modified theory of gravity.

Herein, elaborating on our previous short letter [21], we take a critical look at this reported logarithmic correction to entropy. By applying the covariant phase space formalism [22-25], we derive the first law of black hole mechanics and the expression for Wald entropy. We argue that the presence of logarithmic term in entropy leads to inconsistencies. The key point is that the equations of motion possess a symmetry under constant shifts of the scalar field. This symmetry is not respected by Wald entropy, unless one introduces an extra boundary term in the action. Then, Wald entropy reduces to Bekenstein entropy of general relativity. Since the total mass of the spacetime, being defined at asymptotic infinity, is also the same as the ADM mass in general relativity, fulfilling the first law of black hole mechanics requires *modifying* the black hole *temperature*.<sup>2</sup> Such modifications to temperature have been argued to occur generically in Horndeski theories, due to the propagation speed of gravitons no longer being equal to the speed of light [27]. Interestingly, the same modified temperature, that we fixed 'add hoc' to fulfil the first law of thermodynamics, can be derived via Euclidean methods, by employing the Euclidean canonical ensemble approach [28]. This provides yet another independent indication that the black hole temperature should be modified in this theory.

Although we use a particular form of 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity as an example, our conclusions regarding the effects of shift symmetry on black hole thermodynamics in principle apply to *any shift symmetric* theory of gravity. In particular, this includes theories with the 4D action of the form

$$I \propto \int d^4x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \left( R + \alpha \phi \mathcal{G} + \dots \right) \,, \tag{1.1}$$

and/or to 2D Liouville gravity,

$$I \propto \int d^2x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big( \phi R + \dots \Big) \,, \tag{1.2}$$

where R denotes the Ricci scalar,  $\mathcal{G}$  is the Gauss-Bonnet invariant and dots denote 'arbitrary terms' that may depend on derivatives of  $\phi$  but not  $\phi$  itself. Moreover, these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Alternatively, a possibility of formulating a diffeomorphism symmetry breaking theory has been considered in [15]; see also a recent proposal for an alternative limit of Einstein gravity to two dimensions [16].

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The recovery of area law in shift symmetric Horndeski theories was recently noted [26]. However, they do not discuss temperature modifications.

ambiguities in principle appear even in theories not possessing the shift symmetry. We will have more to say about this in the discussion.

The paper is organised as follows. First, in section 2, we recall the basics of the covariant phase space formalism which offers a consistent way to derive the Smarr formula and the first law of black hole mechanics. Section 3 reviews the formulation of scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity we work with. In section 4, we derive the covariant phase space formalism for this theory, including the Noether current and charges. Then, we apply it in section 5 to find expressions for mass, angular momentum and Wald entropy in stationary black hole spacetimes. We also argue why Wald entropy should coincide with Bekenstein entropy. We derive the Smarr formula and the first law of black hole mechanics for static, spherically symmetric black hole spacetimes in section 6, and show that our proposal for entropy requires a modified temperature. Section 7 further supports the modified temperature proposal by obtaining it from a grandcanonical Euclidean ensemble calculation. Finally, section 8 sums up our findings and touches on some possible future developments.

Throughout the paper, we set  $G = \hbar = c = k_{\rm B} = 1$ ,  $\mu_0 = 1/4\pi$ , and use metric signature (-, +, ..., +). Unless specified otherwise, we keep the spacetime dimension n arbitrary. Other conventions follow reference [29].

# 2 Covariant phase space formalism

Before going to the expressions for Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity, we start by reviewing the basics of the covariant phase space formalism in general setting. Consider an *n*-dimensional manifold equipped with a volume *n*-form,  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ . Introduce a Lagrangian density, *L*, constructed from a collection of dynamical variables,  $\phi$ , and their covariant derivatives,  $\nabla_{\mu}$ , which satisfy  $\nabla_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = 0$  (clearly,  $\nabla_{\mu}$  is not unique). An arbitrary variation of the dynamical variables,  $\delta_{1}\phi$ , leads to a change in *L* 

$$\delta_1 \boldsymbol{L} = A_{\phi} \delta_1 \phi + \nabla_{\mu} \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta_1 \right].$$
(2.1)

It is easy to see that  $A_{\phi} = 0$  correspond to the equations of motion for  $\phi$ , whereas the second term  $\nabla_{\mu}\theta^{\mu}[\delta_1]$  contributes only a boundary integral to the variation of the action. Vector density  $\theta^{\mu}[\delta_1]$  is called the symplectic potential [22].

Next, introduce a second independent variation of the dynamical variables,  $\delta_2 \phi$ . The commutator of the variations acting on L yields

$$\left(\delta_1\delta_2 - \delta_2\delta_1\right)L = \delta_1 A_\phi \delta_2 \phi - \delta_2 A_\phi \delta_1 \phi + \nabla_\mu \Omega^\mu \left[\delta_1, \delta_2\right], \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$\Omega^{\mu}\left[\delta_{1},\delta_{2}\right] = \delta_{1}\theta^{\mu}\left[\delta_{2}\right] - \delta_{2}\theta^{\mu}\left[\delta_{1}\right],\tag{2.3}$$

is the symplectic current [22]. Finally, integrating  $\Omega^{\mu}[\delta_1, \delta_2]$  over an initial data surface C yields a symplectic form<sup>3</sup>

$$\Omega\left[\delta_1, \delta_2\right] = \int_{\mathcal{C}} \Omega^{\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu}.$$
(2.4)

Suppose that one of the variations is generated by a vector field  $\xi^{\mu}$ , i.e.,  $\delta_1 \phi = \pounds_{\xi} \phi$ . If Hamiltonian  $H_{\xi}$  corresponding to evolution along  $\xi^{\mu}$  exists, its change under an arbitrary variation of the dynamical variables,  $\delta_2 \phi = \delta \phi$ , equals

$$\delta H_{\xi} = \Omega \left[ \pounds_{\xi}, \delta \right]. \tag{2.5}$$

by the virtue of the Hamilton equations of motion [22].

For a diffeomorphism invariant theory, any vector field  $\xi^{\mu}$  with continuous first derivatives also generates a local infinitesimal symmetry of the theory [22, 23]. Then, we can define the corresponding conserved Noether current

$$j_{\xi}^{\mu} = \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta_{\xi} \right] - L \xi^{\mu}.$$
 (2.6)

This current can be written as [23, 24]

$$j^{\mu}_{\xi} = -A_{\phi} \pounds_{\xi} \phi + \nabla_{\nu} Q^{\nu\mu}_{\xi}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where  $Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  is an antisymmetric tensor density. It follows that the divergence of  $j_{\xi}^{\mu}$  vanishes on shell and  $Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  is the Noether charge corresponding to the diffeomorphism generated by  $\xi^{\mu}$ . Now suppose one introduces a small perturbation that changes one solution of the equations of motion to another (in other words, the perturbation satisfies the linearised equations of motion,  $\delta A_{\phi} = 0$ ). Then it can be shown that a perturbation of the Hamiltonian,  $\delta H_{\xi}$ , is equal to an integral of the Noether charge variation  $\delta Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  and the symplectic current  $\theta^{\mu}[\delta]$  over the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{C}$  of the initial data surface  $\mathcal{C}$ , i.e.,

$$\delta H_{\xi} = \int_{\partial \mathcal{C}} \left( \delta Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu} - 2\xi^{\nu} \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta \right] \right) \mathrm{d} \mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.8)

If  $\xi^{\mu}$  is a Killing vector field, the variation of the Hamiltonian vanishes identically. For a stationary black hole spacetime, equation (2.8) evaluated for the Killing vector field which defines the Killing horizon yields the first law of black hole mechanics. Using the expression for the Hawking temperature  $T_{\rm H} = \kappa/2\pi$ , with  $\kappa$  being the surface gravity of the horizon, one can then identify the Wald entropy of the black hole<sup>4</sup>

$$S_{\rm W} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{H}} Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where the integration is carried out over the spatial cross-section of the horizon orthogonal to the Killing vector  $\xi^{\mu}$ .

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ The form defined in this way can be degenerate [22]. To make it a well-defined symplectic form, we must restrict it from the space of field configurations to the space of solutions. However, this subtlety is not relevant for our purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We should note that this procedure is not fully consistent. The Hawking temperature represents a result of quantum physics in curved spacetime that must be identified in an otherwise fully classical expression.

#### 3 Scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in four dimensions

In this section, we recall the basic properties of electrovacuum scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in four spacetime dimensions. The theory can be obtained by a Kaluza-Klein reduction of electrovacuum Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in any higher dimension to four dimensions (see, e.g. [11, 12] for details). The resulting action reads<sup>5</sup>

$$I_{\text{EGB}} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \left[ R - 2\Lambda + \alpha \phi \mathcal{G} + \alpha \left( 4G^{\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi - 4\nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} \phi + 2\nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi \nabla^{\rho} \phi \right) - F_{\lambda\rho} F^{\lambda\rho} \right] \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} d^{4}x, \qquad (3.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{G} = R^2 - 4R_{\lambda\rho}R^{\lambda\rho} + R_{\lambda\rho\sigma\tau}R^{\lambda\rho\sigma\tau}, \qquad (3.2)$$

denotes the Gauss-Bonnet term. The action (3.1) possesses a shift symmetry, i.e., it is invariant under shifting the scalar field  $\phi$  by any constant, as one can easily check. This symmetry of the action is not exact, but only up to a boundary term. To see this, note that the Gauss-Bonnet term in four spacetime dimensions can be written as a divergence of some vector field

$$\mathcal{G} = \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu}. \tag{3.3}$$

Unfortunately, no closed, coordinate-independent expression for  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  is known [30]. Nevertheless, introducing  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  allows us to easily show that shifting the scalar field by an arbitrary constant C, i.e.,  $\phi \to \phi + C$ , changes the action as

$$\Delta I_{\rm EGB} = C \int \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu} \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} 4^n x.$$
(3.4)

Of course, this term has no effect on the equations of motion. However, any boundary term added to the action affects the symplectic potential and through it the Noether currents and charges. In particular, we have [24]

$$\Delta \theta^{\mu}_{\text{EGB}} \left[ \delta \right] = \frac{\alpha}{16\pi} C \delta \mathcal{G}^{\mu}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\Delta j^{\mu}_{\text{EGB},\xi} = \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} C \nabla_{\nu} \left( \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu]} \right)$$
(3.6)

$$\Delta Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu} = \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} C \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu]}.$$
(3.7)

Hence, the shift symmetry breaks down on the level of the covariant phase space formalism. To restore it, we may add a total divergence to the Lagrangian, in order to make it exactly invariant. We then have the following shift-invariant action

$$I_{\rm inv} = I_{\rm EGB} - \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \nabla_{\mu} \left( \alpha \phi \mathcal{G}^{\mu} \right) \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \mathrm{d}^4 x, \qquad (3.8)$$

where  $I_{EGB}$  is given by equation (3.1). This modified action is only meaningful in four spacetime dimensions. In dimensions lower than four, the Gauss-Bonnet term vanishes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It is straightforward to show that dimensional reduction of the Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet-Maxwell theory does not lead to any coupling between the Maxwell term and the scalar field.

identically and there is no divergence term breaking the symmetry, whereas for dimensions higher than four the symmetry is not present even on the level of the equations of motion.

Varying the action with respect to  $\phi$  yields a scalar equation

$$8\alpha\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\left(-2\nabla^{\mu}\phi\nabla^{\nu}\phi - g^{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\lambda}\phi - \nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\phi + g^{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\lambda}\nabla_{\lambda}\phi - G^{\mu\nu}\right) - 8\alpha R^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi + \alpha\mathcal{G} = 0.$$
(3.9)

Notably, this equation provides a closed, covariant on-shell expression for  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ 

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mu} = 8G^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi - 8\nabla^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}\phi + 8\nabla^{\nu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi + 8\nabla_{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}\phi + \nabla_{\nu}\mathcal{F}^{\nu\mu}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where arbitrary antisymmetric tensor  $\mathcal{F}^{\nu\mu}$  represents an ambiguity in  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ . We will see that this equation allows us to write the on shell Noether charges in a simple, manifestly covariant form.

Continuing, we vary the action with respect to the metric to obtain the following equations

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} + 2\alpha\phi \Big[ R_{\mu\lambda\rho\sigma}R_{\nu}^{\ \lambda\rho\sigma} - 2R_{\mu\lambda\nu\rho}R^{\lambda\rho} - 2R_{\mu\lambda}R_{\nu}^{\ \lambda} + RR_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \Big( R^{2} - 4R_{\lambda\rho}R^{\lambda\rho} \\ + R_{\lambda\rho\sigma\tau}R^{\lambda\rho\sigma\tau} \Big) g_{\mu\nu} \Big] + 2\alpha \Big( 2R_{\mu}^{\ \lambda}{}_{\nu}{}^{\rho} + 2R_{\mu}^{\ \lambda}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} + 2R_{\nu}^{\ \lambda}\delta_{\mu}^{\rho} - 2R_{\mu\nu}g^{\lambda\rho} - 2R^{\lambda\rho}g_{\mu\nu} - R\delta_{\mu}^{\lambda}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} \\ + Rg_{\mu\nu}g^{\lambda\rho} \Big) \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\phi + 2\alpha \Big( 2R_{\mu}^{\ \lambda}{}_{\nu}{}^{\rho} + 2R_{\mu}^{\ \lambda}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} + 2R_{\nu}^{\ \lambda}\delta_{\mu}^{\rho} - R_{\mu\nu}g^{\lambda\rho} - 2R^{\lambda\rho}g_{\mu\nu} - R\delta_{\mu}^{\lambda}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} \\ + \frac{1}{2}Rg_{\mu\nu}g^{\lambda\rho} \Big) \nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\rho}\phi + 2\alpha \Big( 2g^{\lambda\sigma}\delta_{\mu}^{\rho}\delta_{\nu}^{\tau} - 2g^{\lambda\rho}\delta_{\mu}^{\sigma}\delta_{\nu}^{\tau} + g^{\lambda\rho}g^{\sigma\tau}g_{\mu\nu} - g^{\lambda\sigma}g^{\rho\tau}g_{\mu\nu} \Big) \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\phi \\ \nabla_{\sigma}\nabla_{\tau}\phi + 4\alpha \Big( g^{\lambda\sigma}\delta_{\mu}^{\rho}\delta_{\nu}^{\tau} + g^{\lambda\sigma}\delta_{\mu}^{\tau}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} - g^{\sigma\tau}\delta_{\mu}^{\lambda}\delta_{\nu}^{\rho} - g^{\lambda\sigma}g^{\rho\tau}g_{\mu\nu} \Big) \nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla_{\sigma}\nabla_{\tau}\phi \\ + 4\alpha\nabla^{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi - \alpha\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla^{\rho}\phi g_{\mu\nu} - 2F_{\mu\lambda}F_{\nu}^{\ \lambda} + \frac{1}{2}F_{\lambda\rho}F^{\lambda\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = 0, \end{aligned}$$
(3.11)

In the following, we will write these equations as  $E_{\mu\nu} = 0$  to simplify our notation. Likewise, we will use  $E_{\phi} = 0$  for equation (3.9).

A particular combination of the equations of motion,  $E_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu} + E_{\phi}$ , yields the following useful condition [12]

$$4\Lambda - R - \frac{\alpha}{2}\mathcal{G} = 0. \tag{3.12}$$

This equation is scalar and completely independent both of  $\phi$  and of the electromagnetic field. Hence, it offers a simple way to check whether a particular ansatz for the metric is viable, without solving the full equations of motion. We will use this in section 6 to discuss black hole solutions.

#### 4 Covariant phase space formalism for Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity

We now apply the covariant phase space formalism reviewed in section 2 to the case of scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. To show the significance of the shift symmetry, we first do so for action  $I_{EGB}$  (3.1), which is shift-symmetric only up to a boundary

term. The calculations necessary to obtain the covariant phase space formalism are involved but straightforward. For the symplectic potential, we find<sup>6</sup>

$$\theta^{\mu}_{\mathrm{EGB}} \left[ \delta \right] = \frac{\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}}{16\pi} \left\{ \left[ \left( g^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} - g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\nu\rho} \right) \left( 1 + 2\alpha\phi R \right) + 4\alpha\phi (-2R^{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu\nu} + R^{\mu\sigma} g^{\nu\rho} + R^{\nu\rho} g^{\mu\sigma} \right. \\ \left. + R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \right) \right] \nabla_{\sigma} \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 4\alpha\phi \nabla^{\rho} G^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 2\alpha \left( 2R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + 4R^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\rho} - 2R^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\rho} - 2R^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\rho} - 2R^{\nu\rho} g^{\lambda\mu} - Rg^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\rho} + Rg^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\rho} \right) \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 2\alpha \left( 2g^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\rho} g^{\sigma\tau} - g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\lambda\nu} g^{\rho\tau} - g^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} g^{\lambda\tau} + g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\nu\rho} g^{\lambda\tau} \right) \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\tau} \phi \nabla_{\sigma} \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 2\alpha \left( 2g^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\sigma} g^{\rho\tau} - 2g^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\sigma} g^{\rho\tau} - g^{\mu\tau} g^{\nu\rho} g^{\lambda\sigma} + g^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\rho} g^{\sigma\tau} \right) \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} \phi \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 2\alpha \left( 2g^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\sigma} g^{\rho\tau} - 2g^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\sigma} g^{\rho\tau} - g^{\mu\tau} g^{\nu\rho} g^{\lambda\sigma} + g^{\lambda\mu} g^{\nu\rho} g^{\sigma\tau} \right) \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} \phi \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 2\alpha \left( 2g^{\mu\nu} g^{\lambda\sigma} g^{\rho\tau} - g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\nu\rho} \right) \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\sigma} \phi \nabla^{\sigma} \phi \delta g_{\nu\rho} + 4\alpha \left( 2G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta \phi - \nabla^{\nu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \delta \phi \right) - 2F^{\mu\nu} \delta A_{\nu} \right\}.$$
(4.1)

Next, we want to find the Noether current corresponding to infinitesimal diffeomorphism transformations. However, a subtle problem occurs for fields with gauge freedom, such as  $A_{\mu}$ . The usual definition of an infinitesimal diffeomorphism transformation, i.e., a Lie derivative along the diffeomorphism generator  $\xi^{\mu}$ , is not gauge invariant. The issue can be systematically dealt with by generalising the Noether charge formalism to vector bundles [31]. However, a simpler solution sufficient for our purposes lies in modifying the action of infinitesimal diffeomorphisms on  $A_{\mu}$  to make it gauge invariant [32]. We have

$$\delta_{\xi} A_{\mu} = \pounds_{\xi} A_{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu} \left( A_{\nu} \xi^{\nu} - P^{\text{EM},\xi} \right), \qquad (4.2)$$

where  $P^{\text{EM},\xi}$ , is a gauge invariant quantity satisfying [32]

$$k^{\nu}F_{\nu\mu} = -\nabla_{\mu}P^{\mathrm{EM},k},\tag{4.3}$$

for any vector field  $k^{\mu}$  generating a symmetry of all the dynamical fields. For a suitable gauge fixing of potentials, we have simply  $P^{\text{EM},\xi} = A_{\lambda}\xi^{\lambda}$ , and the gauge invariant diffeomorphism transformation reduces to the standard Lie derivative, but this is not generally the case.

We are now ready to compute the Noether current corresponding to an infinitesimal diffeomorphism transformation generated by a vector field  $\xi^{\mu}$ . Starting from the general definition (2.6), we get

$$j_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\mu} = \frac{\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}}{8\pi} \left( \xi^{\nu} E_{\nu}{}^{\mu} - 2P^{\text{EM},\xi} \nabla_{\nu} F^{\nu\mu} \right) + \frac{\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}}{16\pi} \nabla_{\nu} \left\{ \nabla^{[\nu} \xi^{\mu]} \left( 2 + 4\alpha \phi R \right) - 16\alpha \phi R^{\lambda[\nu} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi^{\mu]} \right. \\ \left. + 4\alpha \phi R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\rho} - 8\alpha R \nabla^{[\nu} \phi \xi^{\mu]} + 16\alpha \nabla_{\lambda} \phi R^{\lambda[\nu} \xi^{\mu]} + 16\alpha R_{\lambda}{}^{[\mu} \nabla^{\nu]} \phi \xi^{\lambda} \\ \left. + 8\alpha R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \xi_{\rho} + 4\alpha \nabla^{[\mu} \xi^{\nu]} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi + 8\alpha \nabla_{\lambda} \xi^{[\mu} \nabla^{\nu]} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi + 8\alpha \xi^{[\mu} \nabla^{\nu]} \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \\ \left. - 8\alpha \xi^{[\mu} \nabla^{\nu]} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi + 8\alpha \xi^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla^{[\mu} \phi \nabla^{\nu]} \phi + 8\alpha \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{[\nu} \phi \xi^{\mu]} + 2F^{\nu\mu} P^{\text{EM},\xi} \right\}.$$

$$(4.4)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>As an aside, upon setting  $\phi = 0$ , the results of this section also hold for the purely metric Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in any spacetime dimension  $n \ge 5$ .

The first two terms are proportional to the equations of motion for the metric and the electromagnetic field. Note that the equations of motion for the scalar field  $\phi$  as well as the second set of the Maxwell equations  $\nabla_{[\mu}F_{\nu\rho]} = 0$  do not appear in the Noether current.

The total divergence term in the Noether current (4.4) gives us directly the Noether charge antisymmetric tensor density

$$Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu} = \frac{\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}}{16\pi} \bigg[ \nabla^{[\nu}\xi^{\mu]} \left( 2 + 4\alpha\phi R \right) - 16\alpha\phi R^{\lambda[\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\xi^{\mu]} + 4\alpha\phi R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho}\nabla_{\lambda}\xi_{\rho} - 8\alpha R\nabla^{[\nu}\phi\xi^{\mu]} + 16\alpha R_{\lambda}^{[\mu}\nabla^{\nu]}\phi\xi^{\lambda} + 8\alpha R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\xi_{\rho} + 4\alpha\nabla^{[\mu}\xi^{\nu]}\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi + 8\alpha\nabla_{\lambda}\xi^{[\mu}\nabla^{\nu]}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi + 8\alpha\xi^{[\mu}\nabla^{\nu]}\nabla^{\lambda}\phi\nabla_{\lambda}\phi - 8\alpha\xi^{[\mu}\nabla^{\nu]}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\nabla_{\lambda}\phi + 8\alpha\xi^{\lambda}\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla^{[\mu}\phi\nabla^{\nu]}\phi + 8\alpha\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{[\nu}\phi\xi^{\mu]} + 2F^{\nu\mu}P^{\text{EM},\xi} \bigg].$$

$$(4.5)$$

In the previous section, we have shown that the symplectic potential  $\theta_{\text{EGB}}^{\mu}[\delta]$ , the Noether current  $j_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\mu}$ , and the Noether charge  $Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  are not invariant under shifting the scalar field by a constant,  $\phi \to \phi + C$ . Since the equations of motion and, therefore, all the solutions of the theory do not change under such a shift, it is somewhat unsatisfactory that the locally defined Noether currents and charges, which are used to define measurable quantities such as mass and entropy, do not share this invariance. The solution lies in deriving the symplectic potential from the action  $I_{\text{inv}}$  (3.8), which is exactly shift-invariant. Then, we obtain

$$\theta_{\rm inv}^{\mu}\left[\delta\right] = \theta_{\rm EGB}^{\mu}\left[\delta\right] - \frac{\alpha}{16\pi}\phi\delta\mathcal{G}^{\mu},\tag{4.6}$$

$$j_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\mu} = j_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\mu} - \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} \nabla_{\nu} \left( \phi \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu]} \right)$$
(4.7)

$$Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu} = Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu} - \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} \phi \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu]}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where we recall that  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  is defined so that its divergence equals the Gauss-Bonnet term,  $\mathcal{G} = \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ . The expressions  $\theta^{\mu}_{\text{inv},\xi}[\delta]$ ,  $j^{\mu}_{\text{inv},\xi}$  and  $Q^{\nu\mu}_{\text{inv},\xi}$  have the advantage of being explicitly invariant under constant shifts of the scalar field. On shell, using equation (3.10), we can express  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  in terms of derivatives of  $\phi$  and curvature tensors, making the formulas for the symplectic potential and Noether currents and charges explicitly covariant.

Of course, the covariant phase space formalism is also affected by other boundary contributions to the action, most notably by the Gibbons-Hawking-York boundary term. For the scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory we consider, this term has been derived in the literature [33]. In section 6, we show that it has no effect on thermodynamics of static, spherically symmetric black holes. We expect this result to hold in general as well, since it requires only regularity of the Gibbons-Hawking-York term on the horizon and its sufficiently fast fall-off in the asymptotic region [34].

One might wonder whether the shift symmetry also carries a nontrivial Noether charge that might affect the covariant phase space formalism. Starting from the symplectic potential (4.6), and setting  $\delta_C \phi = C$ ,  $\delta_C g_{\mu\nu} = 0$ , we easily obtain the Noether current corresponding to shift symmetry

$$j_C^{\mu} = \alpha C \left( 8G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi - 8\nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi + 8\nabla^{\nu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \nabla^{\mu} \phi + 8\nabla_{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi - \alpha \mathcal{G}^{\mu} \right).$$
(4.9)

On shell, the Noether current vanishes due to equation (3.10). Hence, there is no nontrivial Noether charge associated with shift symmetry and it will not generate any contributions to conserved quantities.

At this point, we have a complete covariant phase space formalism for electrovacuum scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory. Deriving an explicit expression for the symplectic current would again be straightforward (albeit laborious), but we do not need it for our purposes. We stress that the expression for the symplectic form is not affected by the boundary term we added to the action — it is explicitly shift symmetric regardless whether we derive it from  $\theta^{\mu}_{\text{EGB}}[\delta]$  or  $\theta^{\mu}_{\text{inv}}[\delta]$ . The difference in both expressions is proportional to  $(\delta_1 \delta_2 - \delta_2 \delta_1) \mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ , see equation (2.3), which vanishes identically. Therefore, the fundamental theorem of covariant phase space formalism [35], which asserts the uniqueness of the symplectic form, is respected. In the remainder of the paper, we apply this formalism to the particular case of black hole spacetimes. The general formalism can be, of course, equally applied to any other setting of interest, such as spacetime causal diamonds, cosmological spacetimes, or gravitational waves.

#### 5 Conserved quantities in stationary black hole spacetimes

## 5.1 Mass and angular momentum

We are ready to identify the conserved quantities in 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. We will do so on the example of an asymptotically flat, stationary spacetime containing a single black hole. In particular, we require that there exist a coordinate system in which one can write the metric as  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + O(1/r)$ . Consequently, the Riemann tensor behaves asymptotically as  $O(1/r^3)$ . Inspecting equations of motion for the metric (3.11) and the scalar field (3.9) we can see that this allows asymptotic behaviour of the scalar field at most  $\phi = O(r^{1/4})$ . Otherwise,  $\phi$  would source a contribution to the Riemann tensor larger than  $O(1/r^3)$ . In an asymptotically flat, stationary spacetime, the canonical mass  $\mathcal{M}$  is defined as the contribution to the Hamiltonian corresponding to the evolution along the time translation Killing vector  $t^{\mu}$  coming from the asymptotic infinity [23, 24]. Therefore, we have for a small on-shell perturbation of  $\mathcal{M}$  (the perturbation must be such that it does not spoil the asymptotic flatness)

$$\delta \mathcal{M} = \int_{\infty} \left( \delta Q_t^{\nu \mu} - 2t^{\nu} \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta \right] \right) \mathrm{d} \mathcal{C}_{\mu \nu}.$$
(5.1)

Interestingly, all the correction terms yield vanishing contributions. Therefore, we recover the GR result for canonical mass which is equivalent to the ADM mass. In total, it holds  $\mathcal{M} = M_{\text{ADM,GR}}$ . The same applies to the canonical angular momentum  $\mathcal{J}$ , defined with respect to the rotational Killing vector  $\varphi^{\mu}$ 

$$\delta \mathcal{J} = -\int_{\infty} \delta Q_t^{\nu \mu} \mathrm{d} \mathcal{C}_{\mu \nu} = \delta J_{\mathrm{ADM,GR}}.$$
(5.2)

To sum up, the conserved charges of asymptotically flat spacetimes in the scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity defined at the asymptotic infinity are the same as their counterparts in general relativity. This is natural, since one does not expect the higher order curvature corrections to significantly affect the weak gravity regime. For the same reason, these results hold regardless of whether we consider the shift-symmetric Noether charge  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  or the Noether charge  $Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$ , which changes under constant shifts of the scalar filed.

#### 5.2 Entropy prescription

The situation with black hole entropy is more interesting. The definition of Wald entropy of a stationary asymptotically flat black hole spacetime reads

$$S_{\rm W} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{H}} Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.3)$$

where  $\xi^{\mu} = t^{\mu} + \Omega_{\rm H} \varphi^{\mu}$  is the Killing vector tangent to the horizon ( $\Omega_{\rm H}$  denotes the constant angular frequency of the horizon),  $\kappa$  the corresponding surface gravity, and  $\mathcal{H}$  a spatial cross-section of the horizon.

We first look at the entropy computed from the Noether charge  $Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$ , which is not shift-symmetric. Using that  $\nabla_{[\nu}\xi_{\mu]} = \kappa \epsilon_{\nu\mu}$ , where  $\epsilon_{\nu\mu}$  denotes the binormal to the horizon, we easily obtain, in agreement with the previously reported results [7]

$$S_{W,EGB} = \frac{1}{16} \int_{\mathcal{H}} \left[ \epsilon^{\mu\nu} \left( 2 + 4\alpha\phi R \right) - 16\alpha\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}\phi R_{\lambda}^{\ \nu} + 4\alpha\epsilon_{\lambda\rho}\phi R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho} \right] \epsilon_{\nu\mu} d^{2}\mathcal{A}$$
$$= \frac{\mathcal{A}}{4} + \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathcal{H}} \alpha\phi \left( \epsilon^{\mu\nu}R - 4\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}R_{\lambda}^{\ \nu} + \epsilon_{\lambda\rho}R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho} \right) \epsilon_{\nu\mu} d^{2}\mathcal{A}.$$
(5.4)

where  $d^2 \mathcal{A}$  is the area element on the horizon. The first term is the well known Bekenstein entropy, the second one is a Gauss-Bonnet correction. Notably, the correction term is independent of the derivatives of  $\phi$ . In fact, it is simply the correction to entropy obtained in the purely metric Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity in dimensions higher than four, multiplied by the scalar field  $\phi$ . Since, as we discussed,  $\phi$  can be shifted by any constant C, we have a constant ambiguity in the total entropy of the form

$$\Delta S = \frac{1}{4} C \int_{\mathcal{H}} \alpha \left( \epsilon^{\mu\nu} R - 4 \epsilon^{\lambda\mu} R_{\lambda}^{\ \nu} + \epsilon_{\lambda\rho} R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho} \right) \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \mathrm{d}^2 \mathcal{A} = 4\pi\alpha C, \tag{5.5}$$

where we used that the integral is proportional to the Euler characteristic of the horizon spatial cross-section.

Next, we look at the entropy given by the shift-symmetric Noether charge  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$ . Since  $\xi^{\mu}$  is a null vector tangent to the horizon (and, if the horizon possesses a bifurcation surface,  $\xi^{\mu}$  vanishes there), the terms in  $Q_{\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  proportional to  $\xi^{\mu}$  (and not containing its derivatives) should integrate to 0 over the horizon and not contribute to Wald entropy. The difference between  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  and  $Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  equals  $-\alpha\phi\xi^{[\nu}\mathcal{G}^{\mu]}/(8\pi)$ , which is proportional to  $\xi^{\mu}$ . Hence, it would seem that the black hole entropy does not depend on whether we work with  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  or  $Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$ . However, the properties of the Gauss-Bonnet term change this picture. It has been shown that adding the boundary term  $\nabla_{\mu}\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  to the Einstein-Hilbert action in four dimensions, while leaving the Einstein equations unchanged, shifts Wald entropy of a black hole by a constant proportional to the Euler characteristic of the horizon [36, 37]. In our

case, with the Gauss-Bonnet term being multiplied by the scalar field, the entropy changes more substantively. The easiest way to see that the Gauss-Bonnet term contributes to Wald entropy is by considering its form in a spacetime with Killing symmetries. There, the vector  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  reads [30]

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mu} = -2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}}{\partial R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \xi_{\nu} \nabla_{\rho} \xi_{\sigma}.$$
(5.6)

Hence,  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  depends on the derivative of the Killing vector and can contribute to Wald entropy.<sup>7</sup> The contribution to Wald entropy given by the extra term  $-\alpha\phi\xi^{[\nu}\mathcal{G}^{\mu]}/(8\pi)$  in the shift-invariant Noether charge  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  equals

$$-\frac{2\pi}{\kappa}\int_{\mathcal{H}}\alpha\phi\xi^{[\nu}\mathcal{G}^{\mu]}/(8\pi)\,\epsilon_{\nu\mu}\mathrm{d}^{2}\mathcal{A} = -\frac{1}{4}\int_{\mathcal{H}}\alpha\phi\left(\epsilon^{\mu\nu}R - 4\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}R_{\lambda}^{\ \nu} + \epsilon_{\lambda\rho}R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho}\right)\epsilon_{\nu\mu}\mathrm{d}^{2}\mathcal{A}.$$
 (5.7)

Therefore, the total Wald entropy corresponding to  $Q_{\text{inv},\xi}^{\nu\mu}$  reduces to the well-known Bekenstein entropy of general relativity

$$S_{\rm W,inv} = \frac{\mathcal{A}}{4}.$$
 (5.8)

without any correction terms. At the first glance, this is a surprising result that differs from the ones arrived at in various studies of black hole thermodynamics in four-dimensional Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. However, this is also essentially the only entropy prescription compatible with the symmetry of the equations of motion under  $\phi \to \phi + C$ . Stated differently, the equations of motion imply that physics depends only on derivatives of  $\phi$ and not on the value of the field itself. Hence,  $\phi$  is not a physical observable. It would then be fairly strange if entropy depended on the value of  $\phi$  in any way. We stress that the ambiguity one obtains when entropy depends on the value of  $\phi$  on the horizon is more serious than that from adding the Gauss-Bonnet term to the Einstein-Hilbert action. In that case, the entropy is shifted by a universal constant depending only on the value of the Gauss-Bonnet coupling. However, the dependence on the arbitrary value of  $\phi$  allows for two otherwise physically identical black hole spacetimes to have different entropies. Moreover, we are free to choose a suitable negative  $\phi$  on the horizon to make the overall entropy of the black hole zero (or even negative). Since the entropy of the (minimally coupled) matter outside of the black hole does not depend on the value of  $\phi$ , a small variation of  $\phi$  can in principle violate the second law of thermodynamics. An alternative argument for the area law entropy in shift symmetric theories was recently proposed [26]. It suggests that, since the value of the scalar field is arbitrary, it is natural to eliminate its contribution to entropy by setting it to zero on the horizon.

Since we do not have a general, manifestly covariant expression for  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ , one might in principle worry whether the entropy formula we obtained respects the covariance. However, Wald entropy is an on shell quantity. Then, the on shell expression for  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  (3.10) guarantees that entropy (and, hence, the first law of black hole mechanics) remains fully covariant. Equation (3.10) does contain an ambiguity given by divergence of an antisymmetric tensor  $\mathcal{F}^{\nu\mu}$ , but it can be shown that this ambiguity does not affect the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Another way to see this is by noting that  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  diverges on the bifurcation surface of the horizon (if one exists), compensating the vanishing of  $\xi^{\mu}$ . The overall contribution of the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term is then finite.

conserved quantities. To see this, note that the ambiguity in the conserved quantities (both at the Killing horizon and at the asymptotic infinity) would be proportional to  $\xi^{[\mu]}\partial_{\lambda}\left(\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}\mathcal{F}^{\lambda[\nu]}\right)\xi_{[\mu}n_{\nu]}$ , where  $n^{\mu}$  denotes a spacelike vector normal to the boundary and we used that covariant derivative of an antisymmetric tensor density of weight 1 reduces to a partial derivative. Any contributions to  $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda\nu}$  orthogonal to bi-normal  $\xi_{[\mu}n_{\nu]}$  contract to zero. Hence, we can only study  $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda\nu} = f\xi^{[\lambda}n^{\nu]}$ , where f is an arbitrary function. If we adapt the coordinate system so that  $\partial_{\lambda}n^{\nu} = \partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\nu} = 0$ , we are left with contribution  $\xi^{\mu}\xi^{[\lambda}n^{\nu]}\partial_{\lambda}\left(\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}f\right)\xi_{[\mu}n_{\nu]} = \xi^{\mu}n^{\nu}\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\left(\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}f\right)\xi_{[\mu}n_{\nu]}$ . This is proportional to the Lie derivative of  $\sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}}f$  with respet to Killing vector  $\xi^{\lambda}$ . If the Killing symmetry is respected, this Lie derivative must vanish. Therefore, the ambiguity in  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  does not affect any of the conserved quantities.

To sum up, the consistency of black hole thermodynamics in scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity seems to favour the unmodified entropy prescription (5.8). In the following, we study the implications of this choice of entropy on the example of a static, spherically symmetric black hole spacetime. We will see that it requires a modified prescription for the black hole temperature.

# 6 Spherical black holes

#### 6.1 Black hole solutions

We now apply the general covariant phase space formalism to the particular case of static, spherically symmetric, electrovacuum black hole solutions in four spacetime dimensions. For the sake of clarity, we consider asymptotically flat spacetimes. Our treatment can be straightforwardly generalised to the asymptotically anti-de Sitter case, upon introducing a suitable regularisation [38] (the asymptotically de Sitter case must be treated separately due to the presence of the cosmological horizon).

Any static, spherically symmetric metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = -f(r) dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{f(r) h(r)} + r^{2} \left( d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2} \theta d\phi^{2} \right).$$
(6.1)

where f(r), h(r) are arbitrary functions. Here we are interested only in the solutions with h(r) = 1, which can be found analytically.

The requirements of staticity and spherical symmetry together with the Maxwell equations imply  $F_{tr} = -F_{rt} = Q/r^2 \sqrt{h}$ , where Q is the constant electric charge and, for h = 1, we have  $P^{\text{EM},\xi} = -Q/r$ . We note that this result does not depend on the equations of motion for the metric (3.11) and the scalar field (3.9), and applies to static, spherically symmetric solutions of any gravitational theory, provided that the electromagnetic field is minimally coupled.

To determine the function f, we may first use condition (3.12) which is independent of the scalar field  $\phi$ . It implies

$$\alpha f^{2} - \left(r^{2} + 2\alpha\right)f - C_{2} - C_{1}r + r^{2} = 0, \qquad (6.2)$$

which has a general solution

$$f_{\pm} = 1 + \frac{r^2}{2\alpha} \left( 1 \pm \sqrt{1 + \frac{4\alpha C_1}{r^3} + \frac{4\alpha (C_2 + \alpha)}{r^4}} \right).$$
(6.3)

Plugging this ansatz into the equations of motion<sup>8</sup> yields three independent conditions. Two of them are solved by setting  $\phi$  to [11, 12]

$$\phi(r) = \ln\left(\frac{r}{L}\right) \pm \int_{r_{+}}^{r} \frac{1}{\rho\sqrt{f(\rho)}} \mathrm{d}\rho.$$
(6.4)

The third equation yields a further constrain on f

$$(r^{3} + 2\alpha r - 2\alpha rf)f' + (r^{2} - 2\alpha + \alpha f)f + \alpha - r^{2} + Q^{2} = 0,$$
(6.5)

where ' denotes a partial derivative with respect to r. The ansatz (6.3) for f solves this equation provided we set  $C_2 = -Q^2 - \alpha$ . In the following we study only the asymptotically anti-de Sitter/flat branch of the solution which corresponds to the minus sign between the terms in the brackets in ansatz (6.3). This branch approaches the Schwarzschild-anti-de Sitter black hole in the limit of  $\alpha \to 0$ . The last unspecified constant is then related to Schwarzschild mass parameter,  $C_1 = 2M$ . As we have shown in the previous section, the Schwarzschild mass parameter also gives the canonical mass of the black hole solution we consider. In total, we have the following solution for f:

$$f = 1 + \frac{r^2}{2\alpha} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{8\alpha M}{r^3} - \frac{4\alpha Q^2}{r^4}} \right).$$
(6.6)

By computing the Kretschmann scalar, one can easily check that even with the Gauss-Bonnet corrections, the resulting black hole spacetime remains singular in the origin at r = 0. Function f has two real roots. The larger one corresponds to the location of the event horizon, the smaller to the inner, Cauchy horizon. In between the horizons, f is negative. The event horizon is a Killing horizon with respect to the time translational Killing vector  $t^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ .

#### 6.2 Thermodynamics and modified temperature

Let us now look at the thermodynamics of these black hole solutions. Integrating the on-shell identity  $j^{\mu}_{\text{inv},t} = \nabla_{\nu} Q^{\nu\mu}_{\text{inv},t}$  over a spatial Cauchy surface  $\mathcal{C}$  connecting the spatial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In practice, it is easier to first use the symmetries to simplify the action and then derive the equations of motion specialised for the static, spherically symmetric case [11, 12].

infinity and the black hole event horizon yields the Smarr formula<sup>9</sup>

$$\int_{\infty} Q_{\text{inv},t}^{\nu\mu} d\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} - \int_{\mathcal{H}} Q_{\text{inv},t}^{\nu\mu} d\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} = \int_{\mathcal{C}} j_{\text{inv},t}^{\mu} d\mathcal{C}_{\mu}$$
(6.8)

$$\frac{M}{2} - \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \frac{\mathcal{A}}{4} + \frac{Q^2}{2r_+} = \frac{Q^2}{r_+} + \alpha\kappa + \frac{\alpha}{2r_+}.$$
(6.9)

where the non-zero contribution to the volume integral of  $j^{\mu}_{\text{inv},t} = \theta^{\mu}_{\text{inv}} [\delta_t] - L_{\text{inv}} t^{\mu}$  comes from the Lagrangian  $L_{\text{inv}}$  evaluated for the black hole solution we study.

The first law of black hole mechanics can be derived from the equation (2.8) for variation  $\delta H_t$  of the Hamiltonian corresponding to evolution along Killing vector  $t^{\mu}$ 

$$\int_{\infty} \left( \delta Q_t^{\nu\mu} - 2t^{\nu} \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta \right] \right) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} - \int_{\mathcal{H}} \left( \delta Q_t^{\nu\mu} - 2t^{\nu} \theta^{\mu} \left[ \delta \right] \right) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} = 0, \tag{6.10}$$

$$\delta M - \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \left( 1 + \frac{2\alpha}{r_+^2} \right) \frac{\delta \mathcal{A}}{4} - \frac{Q}{r_+} \delta Q = 0.$$
 (6.11)

In deriving this equation we assume, as is usually done [23, 39], that the surface gravity  $\kappa$  is held fixed, i.e.,  $\delta \kappa = 0$ . We would like to interpret the first law of black hole mechanics (6.11) as the first law of black hole thermodynamics. We can easily identify the last term as the electric field work contribution,  $\Phi \delta Q$ , where  $\Phi = Q/r_+$  denotes the electric potential on the horizon. The mass term  $\delta M$  corresponds to a variation of the black hole enthalpy [38] (though no variation of  $\Lambda$  is considered here). The second term should then be interpreted as  $T_{\rm H} \delta S_{\rm W,EGB}$ , where  $T_{\rm H}$  denotes the Hawking temperature at which the black hole radiates. The standard calculations of the black hole radiation yield for the Hawking temperature  $\kappa/(2\pi)$ . However, our form of the first law (6.11) implies

$$T_{\rm H} = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \left( 1 + \frac{2\alpha}{r_+^2} \right). \tag{6.12}$$

As the Hawking temperature should depend on the kinematic features of the black hole spacetime and not on the gravitational dynamics [40], the idea of modifying it in this case may seem curious. However, it is well known that scalar-tensor theories of gravity generically lead to propagation speeds of gravitons which differ from the speed of light. It has been pointed out that, since gravitons contribute to black hole radiation, the change in their propagation speed can affect the Hawking temperature [27]. Computations of the Hawking temperature always somehow rely on the assumption that the emitted particles move with the speed of light. For instance, the geodesic peeling approach to computing the black hole temperature relies on choosing the null geodesics [41]. If the gravitons in fact

$$\frac{M}{2} - \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\mathcal{A}}{4} + 4\pi\alpha \ln\frac{r_+}{L}\right) - \frac{Q^2}{2r_+} = \frac{\alpha}{2r_+} - 2\alpha\kappa \ln\frac{r_+}{L} + \alpha\kappa, \tag{6.7}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>If we instead use the  $\phi$ -dependent Noether current  $j_{\text{EGB},t}^{\mu}$  and charge  $Q_{\text{EGB},t}^{\nu\mu}$ , the integral of  $Q_{\text{EGB},t}^{\nu\mu}$  over the horizon contains an extra term  $4\pi\alpha \ln \frac{r_+}{L}$ . The same extra term appears in the volume integral of  $j_{\text{EGB},t}^{\mu}$ . Hence, the Smarr formula we find reads

which agrees with the previously reported result [7, 8]. The only difference is that the other references chose to set  $L = \sqrt{\alpha}$ , although the constant L is in fact completely arbitrary.

move along timelike/spacelike geodesics, the resulting temperature found in this way will be altered [27]. That the speed of propagation influences the Hawking effect also becomes apparent in the field of analogue Hawking radiation, where the experimental detection of the effect is possible precisely because the relevant speed is that of sound waves in the medium which is of course much lower than that of light [42-44]. Moreover, for certain Horndeski theories of gravity, the first law of black hole mechanics apparently cannot be satisfied without introducing the modified Hawking temperature [27]. All these theories share an interesting feature. In the Smarr formula (6.7), we have two contributions to the term  $-T_{\rm H}S_{\rm W,inv}$ . The one coming from the integral of the Noether charge over the horizon reads  $-(\kappa/2\pi) S_{W,inv}$ . The second contribution is given by the volume integral of the Noether current and equals  $-(\kappa/2\pi)(2\alpha/r_{+}^{2})S_{W,inv}$ . Thus, the surface integral over the horizon gives us the standard Hawking temperature  $\kappa/2\pi$ , whereas the volume integral contributes the correction term to it. The same situation occurs in other Horndeski theories with modified temperature [27]. At the moment, we cannot say whether this is just a mathematical coincidence or it suggests that the temperature corrections are somehow related to what happens far outside the horizon.

# 6.3 Modified speed of gravitons argument

We can try to evaluate the modified temperature in scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity directly, using the method proposed for generic Horndeski theories [27]. The prescription for the modified Hawking temperature in static, spherically symmetric solutions of Horndeski theories depends only on the radial speed of the gravitons [27]. Metric perturbations in the static spherically symmetric black hole background has been analysed in general Horndeski gravity [45, 46]. As part of the analysis, an expression for the radial speed of graviton propagation was derived. Unfortunately, metric perturbations of the black hole spacetime we consider diverge on the horizon (due to diverging  $\phi'$ ). Hence, the black hole solution we consider is apparently unstable under perturbations, preventing us from evaluating the corrections to black hole temperature. However, it has been observed that the invariance of the equations of motion under a constant shift of  $\phi$  implies that one has a freedom to add a function linear in time to  $\phi$  in a static spherically symmetric spacetime. Notably, this has no effect on the metric. Hence, the most general solution time dependent solution for  $\phi$  reads

$$\phi(r,t) = \ln\left(\frac{r}{L}\right) \pm \int_{r_+}^r \frac{1}{\rho\sqrt{f+L^2\rho^2}} \mathrm{d}\rho + Lt + C, \qquad (6.13)$$

where C, L are constants. Since function f has a finite minimum  $f_{\min} < 0$  somewhere between the event and the Cauchy horizon, we have a range of values of L for which  $\phi$  is well defined everywhere except at the singularity r = 0. The additive constant C is then an arbitrary real number. The previously done analysis of perturbations fails for this time dependent  $\phi$  (the linear time dependence is only innocuous due to spherical symmetry, which the perturbations break). Therefore, the analysis of both stability and graviton speed in this case needs to be done separately. For these reasons, we are unable to derive our proposed modified temperature (6.12) by the modified graviton propagation approach. However, we know that the consistency of the first law of black hole thermodynamics requires this form of the temperature and that the temperature generically appears to be modified in Horndeski theories. Hence, the temperature prescription (6.12) seems plausible. Moreover, in the next section, we employ a Euclidean grandcanonical ensemble approach to black hole thermodynamics and show that it leads to the modified temperature (6.12).

# 6.4 York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term

We have seen that adding the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term affects black hole thermodynamics. Since the action should also contain an appropriate York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term, it is natural to ask whether it influences thermodynamics as well. For completeness, we discuss the boundary terms both for the usually considered action  $I_{\rm EGB}$ and for the shift invariant action  $I_{\rm inv}$ .

First, suppose we take the action  $I_{\text{EGB}}$  which is not exactly shift invariant and set Dirichlet boundary conditions both for the metric,  $\delta g_{\mu\nu}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ , and the scalar field,  $\delta \phi|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ . For this case, the boundary term necessary to have a well posed variational problem reads<sup>10</sup>

$$I_{\rm YGH} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial\Omega} \mathcal{K}\sqrt{-h} d^3x$$
  
$$\equiv \frac{1}{8\pi} \int \left[ K - \frac{2}{3} \alpha \phi \left( K^3 - 3KK_{\lambda\rho}K^{\lambda\rho} + 2K_{\lambda\rho}K^{\rho\sigma}K_{\sigma}^{\ \lambda} + 3^{(3)}G_{\lambda\rho}K^{\lambda\rho} \right) + 2\alpha \left( K^{\lambda\rho} - Kh^{\lambda\rho} \right) \partial_{\lambda}\phi \partial_{\rho}\phi + \frac{2}{3} \alpha n^{\rho} \partial_{\rho}\phi \partial_{\lambda}\phi \partial^{\lambda}\phi \right] \sqrt{-h} d^3x , \qquad (6.14)$$

where  $h_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - n_{\mu}n_{\nu}$  denotes the induced metric on the boundary,  $n^{\lambda}$  the normal to the boundary (which is taken to be spacelike),  ${}^{(3)}G_{\lambda\rho}$  the boundary Einstein tensor, and  $K_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu}^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} n_{\nu}$  its extrinsic curvature. The first term corresponds to the Ricci scalar in the bulk action, the second one to the Gauss-Bonnet term, the third one to the term coupling the Einstein tensor with derivatives of  $\phi$  and the last one to the term containing d'Alembertian of  $\phi$ . The York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term shifts the Noether charge tensor by  $Q_{\rm YGH}^{\nu\mu} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathcal{K} \sqrt{-h} \xi^{[\nu} n^{\mu]}$ . If an integral of  $Q_{\rm YGH}^{\nu\mu}$  over the spacetime boundary does not vanish, it will affect its Hamiltonian (and, therefore, the first law of thermodynamics for black hole spacetimes). In our case of static, spherically symmetric black hole spacetime, we have the boundary normal corresponding to a unit, radial vector, i.e.,  $n^{\mu} = (0, \sqrt{f}, 0, 0)$ . The York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term then reads

$$\mathcal{K} = \frac{f'}{2\sqrt{f}} + 2\frac{\sqrt{f}}{r} - 8\alpha\phi\frac{f\sqrt{f}}{r^3} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\phi\frac{f'}{\sqrt{f}} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\left(\frac{\sqrt{f}-1}{r}\right)^{-1}$$
(6.15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>As far as we can tell, reference [33] missed the terms proportional to  ${}^{(3)}G_{\lambda\rho}K^{\lambda\rho}$  and  $n^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi$ .

Then, we have for the integral of  $Q_{\rm YGH}^{\nu\mu}$  over the horizon

$$\int_{\mathcal{H}} Q_{\text{YGH}}^{\nu\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \left( \frac{f'}{2\sqrt{f}} + 2\frac{\sqrt{f}}{r} - 8\alpha\phi \frac{f\sqrt{f}}{r^3} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\phi \frac{f'}{\sqrt{f}} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\left(\frac{\sqrt{f}-1}{r}\right)^3 \right)$$
$$fr^2 \mathrm{d}\Omega^2 \Big|_{r=r_+} = 0, \tag{6.16}$$

since  $f(r_+) = 0$ . At the asymptotic infinity, we obtain

$$\int_{\infty} Q_{\text{YGH}}^{\nu\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{C}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int \left( \frac{f'}{2\sqrt{f}} + 2\frac{\sqrt{f}}{r} - 8\alpha\phi \frac{f\sqrt{f}}{r^3} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\phi \frac{f'}{\sqrt{f}} + \frac{2}{3}\alpha\left(\frac{\sqrt{f}-1}{r}\right)^3 \right) fr^2 \mathrm{d}\Omega^2 \Big|_{r \to \infty}.$$
(6.17)

This contribution diverges. However, the corrections proportional to  $\alpha$  vanish. Hence, the divergent contribution is exactly the same as in general relativity and can be removed by regularisation of the York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term (i.e., by subtracting  $K^0$ , the flat spacetime contribution to K). The Gibbons-Hawking-York term corresponding to action  $I_{\text{EGB}}$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions therefore does not affect black hole thermodynamics in any way.

Let us now consider the York-Gibbons-Hawking term for the exactly shift invariant action  $I_{inv}$ . Suppose that we again set Dirichlet boundary conditions,  $\delta g_{\mu\nu} = 0$ ,  $\delta \phi = 0$ . The action no longer contains the  $\phi \mathcal{G}$  term, and the corresponding boundary term thus no longer appears. It turns out that no extra York-Gibbons-Hawking term is required for the  $-\mathcal{G}^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi$  present in  $I_{inv}$ . Thus, we simply have

$$I_{\rm YGH,inv} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[ K + 2\alpha \left( K^{\lambda\rho} - Kh^{\lambda\rho} \right) \partial_{\lambda}\phi \partial_{\rho}\phi + \frac{2}{3} \alpha n^{\rho} \partial_{\rho}\phi \partial_{\lambda}\phi \partial^{\lambda}\phi \right] \sqrt{-h} d^3x \,, \quad (6.18)$$

which again does not affect gravitational dynamics. However, there is some tension between the invariance of the action under shifts of  $\phi$  by a constant, and fixing the variation of  $\phi$  to zero on the boundary. It would be better to impose a boundary condition on the derivative of  $\phi$ . A suitable choice is a restricted Neumann boundary condition

$$n^{\nu} \left( \mathcal{G}^{\mu} - 8G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi - 8\nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi + 8\nabla^{\nu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \nabla^{\mu} \phi + 8\nabla_{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\nu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi \right) |_{\partial\Omega} = 0.$$
(6.19)

If we also impose Dirichlet boundary conditions for the metric and take our action to be  $I_{\text{inv}} + I_{\text{YGH,inv}}$ , we have a well posed variational problem without the need to fix either  $\phi$  or  $\delta\phi$  on the boundary. Therefore, the boundary conditions we impose do not break the shift symmetry. Moreover, the boundary condition (6.19) for the derivatives of  $\phi$  is automatically satisfied by any solution of the equations of motion, as a consequence of equation (3.10). Hence, we lose no potential solutions by imposing it. Since, as we discussed, the York-Gibbons-Hawking term  $I_{\text{YGH,inv}}$  has no influence on black hole thermodynamics, all the conclusions of the previous sections are valid for this choice of boundary conditions.

In summary, the York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term does not affect the black hole thermodynamics. Therefore, the only boundary term relevant for the definition of the conserved quantities is the Gauss-Bonnet one.

# 7 Grandcanonical ensemble derivation of the modified temperature

Upon discussing black hole thermodynamics in 4D Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity from the perspective of the covariant phase space formalism, we study the same problem from the perspective of Euclidean canonical ensemble [28]. It has the crucial advantage of directly obtaining the black hole temperature by finding stationary points of the Euclidean action. Entropy is then derived by the standard grandcanonical ensemble methods only upon fixing the temperature. Hence, this method supplements the covariant phase space formalism approach, which is unable to directly derive the temperature.

In our case, the only variable describing the grandcanonical ensemble is the horizon radius,  $r_+$  (other variables, e.g. the electric potential can be easily added [28]). The key point of the method lies in introducing an artificial boundary (and the appropriate York-Gibbons-Hawking contribution to action) at finite radial distance. The usual thermodynamic quantities are then recovered in the limit of taking this boundary to infinity.

#### 7.1 Gauss-Bonnet boundary term in 4D general relativity

As a warm-up and to introduce the machinery of the grandcanonical ensemble method, we show how the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term in 4D changes entropy of a standard Schwarzschild black hole. We work with a general Euclidean ansatz for a spherical, static black hole metric

$$ds^{2} = (b(y))^{2} d\tau^{2} + (a(y))^{2} dy^{2} + (r(y))^{2} d\Omega_{2}$$
(7.1)

where the  $\tau$  denotes the Euclidean time coordinates  $\tau \in [0, 2\pi)$ , and coordinate  $y \in [0, 1]$  is chosen so that  $r(0) = r_+$  corresponds to the black hole event horizon and  $r(1) = r_b > r_+$ to the artificial boundary of the spacetime with topology  $S^1 \times S^2$ . To have the geometry regular at the horizon, we require b(0) = 0 and  $(b'/a)_{y=0} = 1$  [28]. The inverse temperature  $\beta$  measured by a static observer on the boundary is given by the proper length of its  $S^1$ component, i.e.,  $\beta = 2\pi b(1)$  [28].

The Euclidean action we work with corresponds to vacuum general relativity (for simplicity with  $\Lambda = 0$ ) with the Gauss-Bonnet term, i.e.,

$$I = -\frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\Omega} \left( R + \alpha \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu} \right) \sqrt{\mathfrak{g}} \mathrm{d}^4 x.$$
(7.2)

where  $\Omega$  denotes the spacetime. Moreover, we need to fix Dirichlet boundary conditions. Hence, it is necessary to add the appropriate Gibbons-York-Hawking boundary term, which reads (combining the contributions for the Ricci scalar and the Gauss-Bonnet term)

$$I_{\rm YGH} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[ K - K^0 - \frac{2}{3} \alpha \left( K^3 - 3KK_{\lambda\rho}K^{\lambda\rho} + 2K_{\lambda\rho}K^{\rho\sigma}K_{\sigma}^{\ \lambda} + 3^{(3)}G_{\lambda\rho}K^{\lambda\rho} \right) \right] \sqrt{\mathfrak{h}} d^4x.$$

In total, the Euclidean action reads

$$I_{\text{total}} = -\frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\Omega} \left( R + \alpha \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu} \right) \sqrt{\mathfrak{g}} \mathrm{d}^{4} x + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial \Omega} \left[ K - K^{0} - \frac{2}{3} \alpha \left( K^{3} - 3KK_{\lambda\rho} K^{\lambda\rho} + 2K_{\lambda\rho} K^{\rho\sigma} K_{\sigma}^{\ \lambda} + 3^{(3)} G_{\lambda\rho} K^{\lambda\rho} \right) \right] \sqrt{\mathfrak{h}} \mathrm{d}^{4} x.$$
(7.3)

Evaluating this action for our static spherically symmetric black hole spacetime yields

$$I_{\text{total}} = -\int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}y \left[ -\left(\frac{r^{2}b'}{2a}\right)' - \frac{ab}{2r'} \left(\frac{rr'^{2}}{a^{2}} - r\right)' + 2\alpha \left(-\frac{b'}{a} + \frac{r'^{2}b'}{a^{3}}\right)' \right] + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\tau \left[ -\frac{(br^{2})'}{a} + 2br - 2\alpha \left(-\frac{b'}{a} + \frac{r'^{2}b'}{a^{3}}\right) \right]_{y=1}.$$
(7.4)

The constraint equation obtained by varying the symmetry reduced action with respect to b implies  $r'/a = \sqrt{1 - r_+/r}$ , where  $r_+$  is an integration constant corresponding to the Schwarzschild radius. Plugging this into equation (7.4) and carrying out the integration gives us

$$I_{\text{total}}(r_{+}) = \beta r_{\text{b}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{r_{+}}{r_{\text{b}}}} \right) - \pi r_{+}^{2} - 4\pi\alpha,$$
(7.5)

where we used  $\beta = 2\pi b(1)$ . This action corresponds to the grandcanonical partition function for the black hole system we study. To determine the equilibrium configuration, we must find its stationary points with respect to  $r_+$ , leading to the condition

$$\partial_{r_+} I_{\text{total}}\left(r_+\right) = 0,\tag{7.6}$$

which is solved by

$$\beta = 4\pi r_+ \sqrt{1 - \frac{r_+}{r_{\rm b}}}.$$
(7.7)

This corresponds to the redshifted inverse Hawking temperature measured by a stationary observer at a radial finite distance  $r_{\rm b}$  from the black hole. In the limit  $r_{\rm b} \to \infty$  we recover the standard Hawking temperature  $T_{\rm H} = 1/4\pi r_+$ . The entropy obeys the standard relations

$$S = \beta \left(\frac{\partial I_{\text{total}}}{\partial \beta}\right)_{r_{\text{b}}} - I_{\text{total}} = \pi r_{+}^{2} + 4\pi\alpha, \qquad (7.8)$$

giving the well known constant correction to black hole entropy appearing due to the presence of the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term [36, 37].

#### 7.2 Modified temperature in 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity

Upon reviewing the approach on the example of general relativity with the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term, we move on to the 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity. Again considering the metric ansatz (7.1), we work with the shift symmetric Euclidean action

$$I_{\rm inv} = -\frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\Omega} \left[ R - \alpha \mathcal{G}^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi + \alpha \left( 4G^{\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi - 4\nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} \phi \right. \\ \left. + 2\nabla_{\lambda} \phi \nabla^{\lambda} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi \nabla^{\rho} \phi \right) \right] \sqrt{\mathfrak{g}} d^{n} x + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[ K - K^{0} + 2\alpha \left( K^{\lambda\rho} - Kh^{\lambda\rho} \right) \right. \\ \left. \partial_{\lambda} \phi \partial_{\rho} \phi + \frac{2}{3} \alpha n^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \phi \partial_{\lambda} \phi \partial^{\lambda} \phi \right] \sqrt{\mathfrak{h}} d^{3} x.$$

$$(7.9)$$

The action already contains the York-Gibbons-Hawking term, which does not include the part corresponding to the Gauss-Bonnet term. This is because, in the shift invariant action, the Gauss-Bonnet term is replaced by  $-\alpha \mathcal{G}^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \phi$  which allows a well-posed Dirichlet

boundary conditions for the metric without any York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary contribution. For the scalar field we set the restricted Neumann boundary condition (6.19) which is consistent with the shift symmetry.

Evaluating the action for the black hole metric (7.1) yields

$$I_{\text{EGB}} = -\int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}y \left[ -\left(\frac{r^{2}b'}{2a}\right)' - \frac{ab}{2r'} \left(\frac{rr'^{2}}{a^{2}} - r\right)' + 2\alpha\phi \left(-\frac{b'}{a} + \frac{r'^{2}b'}{a^{3}}\right)' + \alpha\frac{\phi'^{2}}{a^{3}} \left(-a^{2}b + 2rr'b' + br'^{2}\right) - \alpha\frac{\phi'^{2}}{a^{2}} \left(\frac{br^{2}}{a}\phi'\right)' + \alpha\frac{br^{2}\phi'^{4}}{2a^{3}}\right] + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\tau \left[-\frac{(br^{2})'}{a} + 2br + 2\alpha\phi \left(-\frac{b'}{a} + \frac{r'^{2}b'}{a^{3}}\right) + \alpha\frac{br^{2}\phi'^{3}}{3a^{3}}\right]_{y=1}.$$
(7.10)

The constraint equations implied by variation of the action with respect to b requires

$$\zeta(r) \equiv \frac{r'(y)}{a(y)} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{r^2(y)}{2\alpha} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{4\alpha r_+}{r^3(y)} \left(1 + \frac{\alpha}{r_+^2}\right)}\right)},$$
(7.11)

where  $r_+$  is an integration constant. Moreover, to satisfy the restricted Neumann boundary condition (6.19) for a boundary at an arbitrary  $r_{\rm b}$ , we must have

$$\phi(y) = \ln \frac{r(y)}{L} - \int_0^y \frac{a(\xi)}{r(\xi) r'(\xi)} d\xi.$$
(7.12)

where L denotes an integration constant. Plugging this into the action and integrating gives

$$I_{\rm inv} = \beta r_{\rm b} \left( 1 - \zeta \left( r_{\rm b} \right) \right) \left[ 1 - \frac{4\alpha}{3r_{\rm b}^2} \left( \zeta \left( r_{\rm b} \right) - 1 \right) \left( 2\zeta \left( r_{\rm b} \right) - 1 \right) \right] - \pi r_+^2.$$
(7.13)

Looking for stationary points with respect to  $r_+$  yields the following condition on  $\beta$ 

$$\beta_{\rm inv} = 4\pi r_{+} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\alpha}{r_{+}^{2}}} \zeta\left(r_{\rm b}\right) \frac{1 - \frac{2\alpha}{r_{\rm b}^{2}} \left(\zeta\left(r_{\rm b}\right)^{2} - 1\right)}{1 - \frac{8\alpha}{3r_{\rm b}^{2}} \left(\zeta\left(r_{\rm b}\right) - 1\right) \left(3\zeta\left(r_{\rm b}\right) - 2\right)}.$$
(7.14)

In the limit of  $r_{\rm b} \to \infty$  we get precisely the modified temperature (6.12) we guessed by requiring the validity of the first law of thermodynamics

$$\beta_{\rm inv} = 4\pi r_+ \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\alpha}{r_+^2}} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{2\alpha}{r_+^2}}.$$
(7.15)

Interestingly, at finite distance  $r_{\rm b}$ , the inverse temperature (7.14) does not just contain the expected redshift factor  $\zeta$  ( $r_{\rm b}$ ), but also an extra correction. We are currently not aware of any natural interpretation of this correction term. For entropy, we obtain

$$S_{\rm inv} = \beta \left(\frac{\partial I_{\rm inv}}{\partial \beta}\right)_{r_{\rm b}} - I_{\rm inv} = \pi r_+^2, \tag{7.16}$$

i.e., the area law of general relativity.

The Euclidean grandcanonical ensemble approach shows that the modified temperature indeed naturally emerges in 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity if its shift symmetry is respected by the thermodynamic description. Unfortunately, it provides no clear hints regarding the origin of the temperature modification. Nevertheless, it clearly shows that black hole temperature is sensitive to certain boundary terms appearing in the action. Reasons for this sensitivity require further exploration.

# 8 Discussion

We have studied black hole thermodynamics in scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity that is symmetric under the shift of the value of the scalar field by a constant. We argue that one naturally obtains the standard (uncorrected) Bekenstein entropy and a modified Hawking temperature rather than the usual picture of entropy with a logarithmic correction and the standard Hawking temperature. This result is based on three key ideas. First, the shift symmetry ought to be respected by all the physical quantities in the theory, including Wald entropy. Second, the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term affects Wald entropy, even if it does not change the equations of motion. Third, scalar-tensor theories generically have modified propagation speed of gravitons, which may lead to changes in the process of the Hawking radiation (as the majority of the emitted particles are gravitons). This modified temperature can also be derived directly in the Euclidean grandcanonical ensemble approach. While we lack detailed explanation as to how the temperature modifications appear, it might be associated with modified propagation of gravitons in scalar-tensor theories, or perhaps due to a change in thermodynamic ensemble [47]. Our reasoning is not limited to the particular action we studied in this work, but applies to any shift-symmetric gravitational theory in four dimensions containing a term of the form  $\phi \mathcal{G}$ .

It is interesting to ask what impact can our ideas have on thermodynamics of other gravitational theories. For instance, Liouville gravity, a scalar-tensor theory of gravity in two spacetime dimensions is also shift symmetric [48, 49]. It depends on the value of  $\phi$  only through a term of the form  $\phi R$  and the scalar curvature R is a total divergence in two dimensions. Nevertheless, Wald entropy for two dimensional black hole is held to be proportional to the horizon value of  $\phi$ . Applying the logic we outlined here to this case would instead suggest that the entropy is *equal to zero*. This might make some sense given that the horizon spatial cross-section in two dimension is point-like, but the issue certainly deserves a more careful study in the future.

More generally, we have shown that certain boundary terms in action both affect Wald entropy and equilibrium temperature of a Euclidean grandcanonical ensemble corresponding to a black hole spacetime. In fact, this is true not just for the shift symmetric theories we discuss above, but essentially for any scalar-tensor theory of gravity. For example, to any scalar-tensor action in four dimensions (among others, any Horndeski theory) we can add a boundary term of the form  $\alpha \nabla_{\mu} (\phi \mathcal{G}^{\mu}) / 16\pi$ . This leads to a change in the black hole entropy

$$\Delta S = \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathcal{H}} \alpha \phi \left( \epsilon^{\mu\nu} R - 4 \epsilon^{\lambda\mu} R_{\lambda}^{\ \nu} + \epsilon_{\lambda\rho} R^{\nu\mu\lambda\rho} \right) \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \mathrm{d}^2 \mathcal{A}.$$
(8.1)

To then satisfy the first law of black hole mechanics, we must also modify the temperature. In principle, nothing prevents us to add a surface term like this to action, in the same way as we are free to add the Gauss-Bonnet boundary  $\alpha \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mu}/16\pi$  without a scalar field to four dimensional Einstein-Hilbert action. A possibility to affect black hole thermodynamics by boundary terms is not limited to four dimensions. We can similarly add any Lovelock density in its critical dimension, where it becomes a total derivative. Do these terms have a genuine impact on physics that can explain these changes? Or do they signify an ambiguity in both covariant phase space and Euclidean approaches to black hole thermodynamics? In that case, is there a physical way to fix this ambiguity? In the case of 4D scalar-tensor Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity we relied on the shift symmetry as guiding principle, but it is unclear how to approach this problem in general. On the one hand, it might be tempting to fix these ambiguities by demanding the recovery of the standard Hawking temperature. On the other hand, the first law of black hole mechanics then appears to be violated in certain Horndeski theories. Moreover, fixing the standard Hawking temperature is inconsistent with shift symmetry in the case we analysed here. Thus, in our opinion, the possibility of temperature modifications should be taken seriously.

Furthermore, the modified propagation speed of gravitons occurs even beyond scalartensor theories, e.g. in Lovelock gravity [50-52]. It would be interesting to see whether a modified temperature can occur even in these cases (as speculated in [21]). In particular, is it possible that we have entropy in modified gravity given by the Bekenstein formula and move the modifications entirely to the temperature instead? If so, what are the necessary conditions?

A possible way to decide whether the modified thermodynamics we discuss here is physically reasonable would be to check the validity of the second law of thermodynamics. Unfortunately, this is far from straightforward. For example, in the case of four dimensional Einstein-Hilbert action it has been suggested that the Gauss-Bonnet boundary term violates it [37], which could be a reason to exclude it. However, a way to make this term consistent with the second law has been recently proposed [53].

Another possibility is that, in this theory, the first law and Smarr relation receive a new contribution. This contribution could be independent from T and S in the generic case but become degenerate with it in the case of spherical symmetry, leading to the modified temperature. For example, something similar happens for Taub-NUT solutions for the entropy, which in the traditional view receives contributions from the horizon and the Misner string. Testing this idea would be possible once more complicated solutions to the theory have been constructed.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Pablo Cano for useful comments on our work. M.L. is supported by the Charles University Grant Agency project No. GAUK 90123. RAH is grateful to Andrew Svesko for a number of helpful discussions at the Benasque 2023 workshop, "Gravity: New Perspectives from Strings and Higher Dimensions". The work of RAH received the support of a fellowship from "la Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434) and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 847648 under fellowship code LCF/BQ/PI21/11830027. D.K. is grateful for support from GAČR 23-07457S grant of the Czech Science Foundation.

# A Variational principles in shift symmetric theories: a toy example

In the main text we have shown that by adding a certain boundary term to the 4D Gauss-Bonnet theory, we can restore its shift symmetry at the level of the action. We also briefly discussed how to then obtain a well-posed variational problem without breaking the shift symmetry in the process. Herein, for the sake of clarity, we discuss this question on a toy example of a 2D gravity. Thus we start from the action:

$$I_0 = \int_{\Omega} d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \left( \phi R + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \phi)^2 \right), \qquad (A.1)$$

where in 2D, we can write  $R = \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{R}^{\mu}$ . Such an action is not manifestly shift symmetric, as under  $\phi \to \phi + C$  it changes as

$$\Delta I_0 = C \int d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \nabla_\mu \mathcal{R}^\mu \,. \tag{A.2}$$

Varying with respect to the scalar field we find

$$\delta_{\phi}I_{0} = \int_{\Omega} d^{2}x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big( R\delta\phi + \nabla\phi \cdot \nabla\delta\phi \Big)$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\Omega} d^{2}x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big( R - \nabla^{2}\phi \big)\delta\phi + \int_{\partial\Omega} dx \sqrt{-\mathfrak{h}} (n \cdot \nabla\phi)\delta\phi \,. \tag{A.3}$$

We thus have a well posed variational principle with *Dirichlet boundary conditions* (DBC)

$$\delta\phi|_{\partial\Omega} = 0\,,\tag{A.4}$$

which yields the following equation of motion for the scalar field

$$\nabla^2 \phi - R = 0. \tag{A.5}$$

Alternatively, one can impose a restricted Neumann boundary condition (RNBC)

$$(n \cdot \nabla \phi)|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \qquad (A.6)$$

which of course yields the same EOM.

The latter can be generalized to the full NBC by adding the corresponding boundary term, namely by considering

$$I_0^N = I_0 - \int_{\partial\Omega} dx \sqrt{-\mathfrak{h}} \phi(n \cdot \nabla \phi)$$
  
=  $\int d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big[ (R - \nabla^2 \phi) \phi - \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \phi)^2 \Big],$  (A.7)

which is shift-symmetric on-shell. The variation then yields

$$\delta_{\phi} I_0^N = \int_{\Omega} d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big( R - \nabla^2 \phi \big) \delta \phi - \int_{\partial \Omega} dx \sqrt{-\mathfrak{h}} \phi \delta(n \cdot \nabla \phi) \,, \tag{A.8}$$

giving the (full) Neumann boundary condition (NBC):

$$\delta(n \cdot \nabla \phi)|_{\partial \Omega} = 0. \tag{A.9}$$

To summarize so far, we have seen that the original action  $I_0$  is not shift symmetric. It leads to a well posed variational principle with DBC, which also break the shift symmetry on the boundary. Alternatively, it gives rise to a variational principle with restricted NBC which respects the shift symmetry on the boundary but is not general and will exclude some physically interesting solutions. On the other hand, the Neumann action  $I_0^N$  is shiftsymmetric on-shell and the (full) NBC respects the shift symmetry as well. However, to set Dirichlet conditions for the metric, we must add a York-Gibbons-Hawking term of the form  $\phi K$  which again breaks the on shell shift symmetry. It has been noted that imposing the Neumann boundary conditions for the metric still allows one to recover the correct black hole entropy [34]. However, even this option appears to break the shift symmetry in our setup. So far, we were unable to find a way to consistently set the boundary conditions, that allows us to both keep the on-shell shift invariance and define the Euclidean canonical ensemble.

Let us finally turn to the type of action studied in the main text:

$$I = I_0 - \int d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \nabla_\mu (\phi \mathcal{R}^\mu) = \int d^2 x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \left( -\mathcal{R}^\mu \nabla_\mu \phi + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \phi)^2 \right).$$
(A.10)

This is manifestly shift symmetric even off-shell. Varying this now yields

$$\delta_{\phi}I = \int_{\Omega} d^2x \sqrt{-\mathfrak{g}} \Big( R - \nabla^2 \phi \big) \delta\phi + \int_{\partial\Omega} dx \sqrt{-\mathfrak{h}} \Big[ n \cdot (\nabla \phi - \mathcal{R}) \Big] \delta\phi \,. \tag{A.11}$$

This again admits a well posed Dirichlet problem, which, however, breaks the shift symmetry on the boundary. Instead, thus, we can consider the RNBC:

$$(n \cdot A)|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \quad A \equiv \nabla \phi - \mathcal{R}.$$
 (A.12)

Note that in this notation we then also write the EOM, (A.5), as

$$\nabla \cdot A = 0 \tag{A.13}$$

Hence, setting the RNBC does not restrict the solutions of the equations of motion in any way. Moreover, the shift symmetry is respected even off shell.

# **B** Alternative boundary term

A possible problem with using vector  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  in the action is that we lack a general expression for it [30]. However, we can circumvent this issue by considering an explicitly covariant vector

$$S^{\mu} = 8G^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi - 8\nabla^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}\phi + 8\nabla^{\nu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi + 8\nabla_{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\nu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}\phi.$$
(B.1)

By the virtue of equation (3.10), we have  $S^{\mu} = \mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  on shell (we have shown in subsection 5.2 that the ambiguity in  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  has no effect on thermodynamics).

Then, adding boundary term  $-\nabla_{\mu} (\alpha \phi S^{\mu})$  to action  $I_{\text{EGB}}$  (3.1) makes it on shell shift invariant. The expressions for symplectic potential, Noether current and Noether charge obtained from this action read

$$\Delta \theta^{\mu}_{\text{EGB}} \left[ \delta \right] = \frac{\alpha}{16\pi} C \delta \mathcal{S}^{\mu}, \tag{B.2}$$

$$\Delta j^{\mu}_{\text{EGB},\xi} = \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} C \nabla_{\nu} \left( \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{S}^{\mu]} \right)$$
(B.3)

$$\Delta Q_{\text{EGB},\xi}^{\nu\mu} = \frac{\alpha}{8\pi} C \xi^{[\nu} \mathcal{S}^{\mu]}.$$
 (B.4)

On shell, these expressions precisely reduce to the ones obtained for the invariant action  $I_{\text{inv}}$  we considered in the main text. Since the covariant phase space construction is on shell, we obtain exactly the same conclusions as before, in particular, modified Hawking temperature and Wald entropy proportional to the horizon area.

We may similarly repeat the Brown-York style construction of the Euclidean grandcanonical ensemble. Since  $S^{\mu}$  coincides with  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$  the final result for the partition function is not going to be affected by swapping both vectors, except we in principle need to add different York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary terms. Unfortunately, we do not know the appropriate York-Gibbons-Hawking term corresponding to  $-\nabla_{\mu} (\alpha \phi S^{\mu})$ . Nevertheless, we can look for the relevant contributions in the static spherically symmetric case corresponding to the metric (7.1). There, we only need to concern ourselves with the terms that do not vanish on the horizon. Since  $b (r = r_+) = 0$ , these are only the terms proportional to b'. For the boundary term corresponding to  $-\nabla_{\mu} (\alpha \phi S^{\mu})$ , these contribute to the Euclidean action

$$-\left[2\alpha\phi\left(2\frac{b'}{a^3}rr'\phi'-\frac{b'}{a^3}r^2\phi'^2\right)\right]_{r=r_+} = 2\alpha\phi \tag{B.5}$$

where we used  $b'/a|_{r=r_+} = 1$ ,  $r'/a|_{r=r_+} = 0$ ,  $r'|_{r=r_+} = 1$ , and  $\phi' = r'/r - a/(rr')$ . Compared to the analysis we carried out for  $I_{inv}$  in subsection 7.2, we also have to include the York-Gibbons-Hawking boundary term corresponding to  $\alpha\phi\mathcal{G}$  which is given in equation (6.14). This term contributes  $-2\alpha\phi$  to the Euclidean action, precisely cancelling the term we obtained above. Therefore, we exactly recover the Euclidean action expression (7.13), which implies modified temperature and area law entropy.

To summarize, we have shown that all our results can be reproduced using  $S^{\mu}$ . This has the potential advantage that the covariant expression is known explicitly, as opposed to  $\mathcal{G}^{\mu}$ , for which we have an explicit expression only on-shell. Overall, having two paths to the same result strengthens our conclusion.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- D. Glavan and C. Lin, Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet Gravity in Four-Dimensional Spacetime, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 081301 [arXiv:1905.03601] [INSPIRE].
- W.-Y. Ai, A note on the novel 4D Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity, Commun. Theor. Phys. 72 (2020) 095402 [arXiv:2004.02858] [INSPIRE].

- [3] M. Gürses, T.Ç. Şişman and B. Tekin, Is there a novel Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory in four dimensions?, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 647 [arXiv:2004.03390] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Mahapatra, A note on the total action of 4D Gauss-Bonnet theory, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 992 [arXiv:2004.09214] [INSPIRE].
- [5] F.-W. Shu, Vacua in novel 4D Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet Gravity: pathology and instability?, Phys. Lett. B 811 (2020) 135907 [arXiv:2004.09339] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. Arrechea, A. Delhom and A. Jiménez-Cano, Inconsistencies in four-dimensional Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity, Chin. Phys. C 45 (2021) 013107 [arXiv:2004.12998]
   [INSPIRE].
- S.-W. Wei and Y.-X. Liu, Extended thermodynamics and microstructures of four-dimensional charged Gauss-Bonnet black hole in AdS space, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 104018
   [arXiv:2003.14275] [INSPIRE].
- [8] P.K. Yerra and C. Bhamidipati, Topology of Born-Infeld AdS black holes in 4D novel Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity, Phys. Lett. B 835 (2022) 137591 [arXiv:2207.10612]
   [INSPIRE].
- M. Bravo-Gaete, L. Guajardo and J. Oliva, Nonlinear charged planar black holes in four-dimensional scalar-Gauss-Bonnet theories, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 024017
   [arXiv:2205.09282] [INSPIRE].
- [10] T. Kobayashi, Effective scalar-tensor description of regularized Lovelock gravity in four dimensions, JCAP 07 (2020) 013 [arXiv:2003.12771] [INSPIRE].
- [11] H. Lu and Y. Pang, Horndeski gravity as  $D \rightarrow 4$  limit of Gauss-Bonnet, Phys. Lett. B 809 (2020) 135717 [arXiv:2003.11552] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R.A. Hennigar, D. Kubizňák, R.B. Mann and C. Pollack, On taking the D → 4 limit of Gauss-Bonnet gravity: theory and solutions, JHEP 07 (2020) 027 [arXiv:2004.09472]
   [INSPIRE].
- P.G.S. Fernandes, P. Carrilho, T. Clifton and D.J. Mulryne, Derivation of Regularized Field Equations for the Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet Theory in Four Dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 024025 [arXiv:2004.08362] [INSPIRE].
- [14] G.W. Horndeski, Second-order scalar-tensor field equations in a four-dimensional space, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 10 (1974) 363 [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Corianò et al., 4D Einstein Gauss-Bonnet Gravity without a Dilaton, PoS CORFU2022 (2023) 099 [arXiv:2305.19554] [INSPIRE].
- [16] C.G. Boehmer and E. Jensko, A new 2D limit of general relativity, arXiv:2308.01728 [INSPIRE].
- [17] R.K. Kaul and P. Majumdar, Logarithmic correction to the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 (2000) 5255 [gr-qc/0002040] [INSPIRE].
- S.N. Solodukhin, Entanglement entropy of black holes, Living Rev. Rel. 14 (2011) 8 [arXiv:1104.3712] [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Sen, Logarithmic Corrections to Schwarzschild and Other Non-extremal Black Hole Entropy in Different Dimensions, JHEP 04 (2013) 156 [arXiv:1205.0971] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Faulkner, A. Lewkowycz and J. Maldacena, Quantum corrections to holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 11 (2013) 074 [arXiv:1307.2892] [INSPIRE].

- [21] D. Kubizňák and M. Liška, Shall Bekenstein's Area Law Prevail?, arXiv:2307.16201 [INSPIRE].
- [22] J. Lee and R.M. Wald, Local symmetries and constraints, J. Math. Phys. **31** (1990) 725 [INSPIRE].
- [23] R.M. Wald, Black hole entropy is the Noether charge, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) R3427 [gr-qc/9307038] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Iyer and R.M. Wald, Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 846 [gr-qc/9403028] [INSPIRE].
- [25] V. Iyer, Lagrangian perfect fluids and black hole mechanics, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 3411 [gr-qc/9610025] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M. Minamitsuji and K.-I. Maeda, Black hole thermodynamics in Horndeski theories, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 084061 [arXiv:2308.01082] [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Hajian, S. Liberati, M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari and M.H. Vahidinia, On Black Hole Temperature in Horndeski Gravity, Phys. Lett. B 812 (2021) 136002 [arXiv:2005.12985]
   [INSPIRE].
- [28] H.W. Braden, J.D. Brown, B.F. Whiting and J.W. York Jr., Charged black hole in a grand canonical ensemble, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 3376 [INSPIRE].
- [29] C.W. Misner, K.S. Thorne and J.A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, U.S.A. (2017).
- [30] A. Yale and T. Padmanabhan, Structure of Lanczos-Lovelock Lagrangians in Critical Dimensions, Gen. Rel. Grav. 43 (2011) 1549 [arXiv:1008.5154] [INSPIRE].
- [31] K. Prabhu, The First Law of Black Hole Mechanics for Fields with Internal Gauge Freedom, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 035011 [arXiv:1511.00388] [INSPIRE].
- [32] Z. Elgood, P. Meessen and T. Ortín, The first law of black hole mechanics in the Einstein-Maxwell theory revisited, JHEP 09 (2020) 026 [arXiv:2006.02792] [INSPIRE].
- [33] L. Ma and H. Lu, Vacua and Exact Solutions in Lower-D Limits of EGB, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1209 [arXiv:2004.14738] [INSPIRE].
- [34] H. Khodabakhshi, A. Shirzad, F. Shojai and R.B. Mann, Black Hole Entropy and Boundary Conditions, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 124007 [arXiv:2005.11697] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. Compère and A. Fiorucci, Advanced Lectures on General Relativity, arXiv:1801.07064 [INSPIRE].
- [36] T. Jacobson and R.C. Myers, Black hole entropy and higher curvature interactions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 3684 [hep-th/9305016] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Sarkar and A.C. Wall, Second Law Violations in Lovelock Gravity for Black Hole Mergers, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 124048 [arXiv:1011.4988] [INSPIRE].
- [38] D. Kubiznak and R.B. Mann, Black hole chemistry, Can. J. Phys. 93 (2015) 999 [arXiv:1404.2126] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J.M. Bardeen, B. Carter and S.W. Hawking, The four laws of black hole mechanics, Commun. Math. Phys. 31 (1973) 161 [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Visser, Essential and inessential features of Hawking radiation, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 12 (2003) 649 [hep-th/0106111] [INSPIRE].

- [41] B. Cropp, S. Liberati and M. Visser, Surface gravities for non-Killing horizons, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 125001 [arXiv:1302.2383] [INSPIRE].
- [42] L.J. Garay, J.R. Anglin, J.I. Cirac and P. Zoller, Sonic black holes in dilute Bose-Einstein condensates, Phys. Rev. A 63 (2001) 023611 [gr-qc/0005131] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Barcelo, S. Liberati and M. Visser, Analogue gravity, Living Rev. Rel. 8 (2005) 12 [gr-qc/0505065] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J. Steinhauer, Observation of quantum Hawking radiation and its entanglement in an analogue black hole, Nature Phys. 12 (2016) 959 [arXiv:1510.00621] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Kobayashi, H. Motohashi and T. Suyama, Black hole perturbation in the most general scalar-tensor theory with second-order field equations I: the odd-parity sector, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 084025 [Erratum ibid. 96 (2017) 109903] [arXiv:1202.4893] [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Kobayashi, H. Motohashi and T. Suyama, Black hole perturbation in the most general scalar-tensor theory with second-order field equations II: the even-parity sector, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 084042 [arXiv:1402.6740] [INSPIRE].
- [47] J.D. Brown and J.W. York Jr., The microcanonical functional integral. 1. The Gravitational field, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 1420 [gr-qc/9209014] [INSPIRE].
- [48] R.B. Mann, Liouville black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 418 (1994) 231 [hep-th/9308034] [INSPIRE].
- [49] A.M. Frassino, R.B. Mann and J.R. Mureika, Lower-Dimensional Black Hole Chemistry, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 124069 [arXiv:1509.05481] [INSPIRE].
- [50] K. Izumi, Causal Structures in Gauss-Bonnet gravity, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 044037 [arXiv:1406.0677] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G. Papallo and H.S. Reall, Graviton time delay and a speed limit for small black holes in Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory, JHEP 11 (2015) 109 [arXiv:1508.05303] [INSPIRE].
- [52] K. Benakli, S. Chapman, L. Darmé and Y. Oz, Superluminal graviton propagation, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 084026 [arXiv:1512.07245] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Gadioux and H.S. Reall, Creases, corners, and caustics: Properties of nonsmooth structures on black hole horizons, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 084021 [arXiv:2303.15512]
   [INSPIRE].